STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Supreme Court County
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 07 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ALONDA B. DESAUSSURE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000137

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel effective where he failed to request funding for and obtain an eyewitness identification expert despite the necessity of such expert testimony to Petitioner's defense and the inadequacy of trial counsel to effectively defend the case without professional assistance?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 4, 2011, the Charleston County grand jury indicted Petitioner Alonda Desaussure for one count of armed robbery and one count of assault and battery first degree. App. 513 – 516 (Indictments). The case was originally set for trial in March 2013; however, on the first day of trial Desaussure made a motion to relieve his public defender, Mary Ford, which was granted. He retained private attorney, Aaron Mayer, later that month. App. 395, l. 21 – 396, l. 8; App. 447, ll. 4-14.

On June 21, 2013, the State filed its notice of intention to seek life without parole for the armed robbery charge, based on Desaussure's prior convictions. App. 357, ll. 9-17.

On July 8-10, 2013, Desaussure appeared for trial before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald and a jury. Desaussure was represented by Aaron Mayer, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors Meg Haley and Spencer Compton. App. 1. The jury found Desaussure guilty of both offenses. App. 354, ll. 12-22. Judge McDonald sentenced him to the mandatory term of life without parole for armed robbery and the mandatory minimum of ten years for assault and battery, to be served concurrently. App. 358, l. 18 – 359, l. 6.

No direct appeal was filed.¹ App. 393, ll. 20-23.

On September 24, 2013, Desaussure filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR"). App. 362. The state filed its return on February 11, 2014. App. 384. On September 11, 2014, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Desaussure was represented by James Falk, and the state was represented by assistant attorney general Ashleigh Wilson. App. 390. The witnesses at the hearing included trial counsel Aaron

¹ Though the failure to file a notice of appeal from Desaussure's conviction and life sentence was not raised as an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel in his application for post-conviction relief, it is certainly another noteworthy failure by trial counsel.

Mayer, Ninth Circuit Public Defender Ashley Pennington, former trial counsel Mary Ford, and eyewitness identification expert Lori Van Wallendael, Ph.D. App. 391 – 493. , Desaussure did not testify. App. 491 – 492. The sole allegation was ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to request funding for and obtain an eyewitness identification expert.

On December 15, 2014, Judge Cooper issued an Order of Dismissal denying Desaussure's PCR application. App. 499.

On August 12, 2015, Desaussure filed a petition for writ of certiorari in this Court. The state filed its return on December 30, 2015. On October 20, 2016, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari and ordered further briefing.

This brief of petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

Petitioner Desaussure was charged with armed robbery and first-degree assault and battery in connection with an incident at Gilroy's Pizza Pub (hereinafter "Gilroy's") in Charleston, South Carolina on Sunday, October 3, 2010. Daniel Cobiella was the only worker at Gilroy's that night and was in the kitchen cleaning when he heard someone enter the empty restaurant at approximately 9:00 p.m. App. 104, ll. 5-24. He heard movement of the tip jar, which contained seven dollars in cash and coins and credit card receipts. App. 105, ll. 2-6; App. 109, ll. 4-8. When he came out into the restaurant, Cobiella saw that only the receipts remained in the jar. He confronted the sole person inside the restaurant but the man denied taking anything. Cobiella got between the man and the door as he tried to leave, and followed him outside where they continued to argue. An altercation ensued and Cobiella's face was injured. App. 105, l. 7 – 106, l. 18. Whether the injury was the result of the use of a knife was disputed at trial. App. 312, l. 21 – 313, l. 17. The assailant rode away on his bicycle. Desaussure was stopped by police **three hours later** because the officer thought he fit the suspect's description. Stephen Silcott, a bystander during the earlier incident who did not stay to talk to authorities, road by where police had stopped Desaussure. Silcott claimed to recognize Desaussure as the assailant from Gilroy's and Desaussure was arrested. App. 200, l. 24 – 202, l. 25; App. 204, ll. 7-11. There was no physical evidence linking Desaussure to the crime.

Relevant Trial Testimony

Victim Daniel Cobiella – In-Court Identification Only

The trial judge heard testimony from Cobiella *in camera* and allowed him to make an in-court identification of Desaussure, even though he was never asked to make a pre-trial

identification and despite the highly suggestive nature of the courtroom. App. 80 – 100. At trial, Cobiella testified that he could only see the suspect’s shoulder and side of his head when he was initially inside of Gilroy’s. App. 108, ll. 5-15. When he came around the counter, he was approximately twenty-five feet from the suspect and continued to get closer as they argued and moved down the street outside of the restaurant. App. 109, ll. 12-23; App. 111, ll. 1-21. Though the restaurant was well-lit inside, it was dark outside at the time of the incident except for a street light. App. 113, l. 19 – 114, l. 1; App. 116, ll. 4-14. Cobiella saw two people outside of Gilroy’s and asked them to call 911. App. 116, ll. 4-9. Cobiella did not see any weapon on the suspect and claimed to have been focused “on the individual” during the altercation. App. 110, ll. 6-13; App. 116, l. 15 – 117, l. 4; App. 131, ll. 2-3.

Cobiella met with an officer at the hospital and described the suspect as “a black male, approximately six-foot-three in height, age approximately 50 years old, salt and pepper, close beard, close hair.” App. 115, l. 21 – 116, l. 3; App. 127, ll. 18-24; App. 130, ll. 14-17. He described the clothing as a “long navy or black top.” App. 130, ll. 18-24. He did not recall what the suspect’s bike looked like other than that it allegedly had a white bag on it.² App. 114, ll. 10-14. However, he agreed that there was no mention of a bag in his written statement. App. 131, ll. 4 – 132, l. 11. Cobiella made an in-court identification of Desaussure, who was sitting at the defense table, as his assailant. App. 109, l. 24 – 110, l. 5. He admitted that no pre-trial identification procedures were ever conducted. App. 133, l. 25 – 134, l. 2.

² Trial counsel impeached the officers regarding whether a white plastic bag was actually mentioned to authorities prior to their stop of Desaussure. App. 165, l. 4 – 177, l. 24; App. 219, l. 9 – 221, l. 17; App. 224, l. 23 – 225, l. 25; App. 230, l. 3 – 233, l. 4; App. 257, l. 17 – 262, l. 10. A report prepared after the fact purportedly indicated that Adam Corbin mentioned a white plastic bag attached to the bike, though no such information was contained in Corbin’s statement. App. 173, ll. 9-13; App. 215, l. 20 – 216, l. 12; App. 230, l. 3 – 233, l. 4. Corbin testified that he could not describe the suspect’s bike because it was too far away. App. 140, ll. 8-13.

Bystander Adam Corbin – No Identification

Adam Corbin was standing outside of Gilroy's smoking a cigarette at the time of the incident. An African American man asked him and his friend for money. They did not give him anything but watched him go inside of Gilroy's. Through the window, Corbin saw the man take money from the tip jar that was on the counter. He then saw him come out of the restaurant followed by the clerk, who asked Corbin to call the police. Corbin observed the physical altercation between Cobiella and the suspect from approximately thirty to forty feet away but did not see any weapon. App. 135, l. 3-19; App. 137, l. 10 – 139, l. 5. He described the suspect as being six-foot two or three inches tall, with a scruffy beard, wearing jeans and a dark, long sleeved T-shirt with a stripe around the elbow, and approximately 25 to 30 years old. App. 139, l. 18 – 140, l. 7; App. 143, ll. 2-11; App. 145, ll. 1-6. Corbin could not describe the suspect's bike because "he was too far away." App. 140, ll. 8-13. No identification procedures were ever utilized with Corbin to identify a suspect. App. 140, ll. 14-19.

Stop of Desaussure Three Hours After Incident

Officer Jonathan Burns responded to the initial call at Gilroy's and unsuccessfully attempted to locate a suspect. Approximately **three hours later**, he saw Desaussure wearing jeans and walking on King Street with a bicycle with a plastic bag tied to the front.³ Notably, Desaussure was wearing a **multicolored shirt** with a black **short-sleeved t-shirt** underneath. App. 156, l. 4 – 157, l. 6. Further, none of the other clothing subsequently found in Desaussure's possession matched the suspect description either. App. 306, ll. 1-18.

Burns "made contact" with Desaussure and immediately stopped his patrol car. App. 157, ll. 7-8. He said that his suspicions were raised because Desaussure immediately became

³ See footnote 2, *supra*.

“defensive.” Desaussure asked why the officer was stopping him and yelled that he had not done anything wrong. App. 157, ll. 8-11. When Burns asked Desaussure if he had any weapons, he responded that he had a large knife in his waistband. That further raised Burns’ suspicion because he believed a knife was used in the altercation outside of Gilroy’s. App. 157, ll. 7-19. However, Silcott, the sole witness who claimed to have seen the weapon, confirmed that the knife seized by Burns was **not the knife** allegedly used by the suspect to assault Cobiella. Further, DNA testing found no blood belonging to Desaussure or Cobiella on the knife. App. 208, ll. 2-14; App. 267, l. 2 – 268, l. 16 (stipulation regarding DNA); see also App. 336, ll. 4-9 (solicitor’s closing argument).

***Bystander Stephen Silcott –
Pretrial “Identification” and In-Court Identification***

At approximately 12:30 a.m., while Burns was speaking with Desaussure, Stephen Silcott rode by quickly on his bicycle and yelled out at Burns. App. 157, l. 19 – 158, l. 2; App. 160, l. 22 – 161, l. 7. Silcott said that he saw that “a couple police cars has pulled a man over.” Though Burns and Silcott’s accounts of the exchange varied, Silcott admitted that he yelled out “Okay, you got that piece of shit” or “fucking piece of shit.” App. 200, l. 24 – 201, l. 14; App. 208, ll. 11-19; see App. 162, l. 5 – 164, l. 14 . Then, either spontaneously or in response to Burns’ question whether he “recognize[d] this gentleman,” Silcott said that Desaussure was “the man from Gilroy’s that had, you know, been involved in a robbery earlier that evening.” App. 201, ll. 14-18.; App. 201, ll. 19-21; App. 202, ll. 2-25. Silcott also “said a few choice words to the suspect.” App. 202, ll. 6-7. Burns did not conduct any formal identification procedure with Silcott that night. App. 164, ll. 15-17.

Silcott was a cashier at a Five Guys restaurant, who was returning from his break when he observed “two gentlemen arguing over some money that had allegedly been stolen from

Gilroy's, and the victim was asking the suspect for the money back." App. 194, l. 13 – 195, l. 6. Silcott saw the two push and shove each other, until the other "pulled out a blade and swung his arms wildly and managed to connect with the face of the victim." App. 195, ll. 7-16. He was going to attempt to help the victim, but once he saw a knife he decided to return to Five Guys and not risk any danger to himself. App. 196, ll. 1-15; App. 198, l. 21 – 199, l. 1. Silcott had no interaction with police until later that night when he saw that police had stopped Desaussure. App. 201, l. 22-24; App. 207, ll. 1-21.

Silcott claimed to have been within three feet of the altercation and that it lasted approximately five minutes. App. 196, ll. 16-17l; App. 198, ll. 3-5. He noticed that the suspect had salt and pepper hair and was a tall and thin African American. **Silcott described the salt-and-pepper hair as the suspect's "strongest characteristic."** App. 198, ll. 6-9; App. 203, ll. 1-4. However, **once he saw the knife, Silcott became focused upon it.** He recalled that it was a common knife with a two and a half inch serrated blade and a thumb hole to unfold it. App. 199, l. 10 – 200, l. 9. He described the night as clear, the area as well lit, and his vision as unobstructed. App. 200, ll. 10-23. Silcott **claimed to be one hundred percent sure** that Desaussure was the assailant from Gilroy's. App. 204, ll. 7-11.

Silcott also made an in-court identification of Desaussure. App. 196, l. 18 – 197, l. 4. Though he failed to mention it to officers on the night of the incident, Silcott claimed that he also saw Desaussure while he was on his way to work at approximately 5:00 p.m. on the night of the incident. Their alleged interaction only lasted approximately five seconds, when the person asked Silcott for change outside of Pop's Pizza. App. 197, l. 5 – 198, l. 2; App. 202, ll. 20-25.

Failure to Utilize Any Other Identification Procedures

At approximately 12:30 p.m., Sergeant Kelly Stone responded to the area where Burns stopped Desaussure. Burns directed him to Silcott. App. 217, ll. 5-15. Stone said that no other line-ups or photo arrays were conducted because they “felt confident” that Silcott’s identification “was the strongest ID.” App. 217, l. 24 – 218, l. 4. Investigator Richard Burckhardt went to Gilroy’s when the incident was initially reported, met with Cobiella at the hospital, and later responded to the area where Burns stopped Desaussure at approximately 12:45 p.m. He said that Cobiella gave “a pretty good description of the individual who had attacked him.” App. 249, l. 18 – 252, l. 15. The description was of an African American male with salt-and-pepper hair, with some sort of facial hair, wearing dark striped cloths and in his forties. App. 254, l. 15 – 255, l. 7. Though there were **no unique identifiers** provided and **neither Desaussure’s shirt nor any in his possession matched the description**, Burckhardt claimed that Desaussure “matched the same physical description pretty much head to toe that was offered to [him] by the victim.” App. 157, ll. 1-6; App. 252, ll. 16-25; App. 306, ll. 1-18.

Defense’s Theories and Presentation of Evidence

Defense’s Opening Statement

In his opening statement, trial counsel Aaron Mayer repeated the refrain “science does not lie.” App. 74, l. 12; App. 77, l. 1; App. 77, l. 23-24; App. 80, l. 12. He tried to focus the jury on the lack of fingerprints at the scene and the absence of the victim’s DNA on the knife that Desaussure was carrying when he was stopped. App. 74, ll. 16 – 75, l. 19. Mayer told the jury that he would present evidence that Desaussure was really drinking beer with friends on the night of the incident. App. 77, ll. 6 – 78, l. 23. He said that Desaussure had left to buy another beer and a hotdog when the police stopped him. App. 78, 19 – 79, l. 4.

Trial counsel asked the jury to “carefully scrutinize” the credibility of the witness’ identification. He suggested that Silcott may not have even seen the incident and noted that neither the victim nor the other witness had ever identified Desaussure in the two and a half years since the incident. App. 77, l. 25 – 78, l. 18. He further pointed to discrepancies between Desaussure and the description of the assailant, including the height, age and clothing. He also noted that bicycles are commonplace in the downtown Charleston area and that the witnesses failed to mention the distinguishing features of Desaussure’s bicycle. Trial counsel told the jury that once they scrutinized the evidence, they would “see it wasn’t my guy that did this crime.” App. 79, l. 5 – 80, l. 13.

Denial of Request to Take Judicial Notice

On the morning of the third and last day of trial, defense counsel requested that the trial court take judicial notice pursuant to Rule 201, SCRE, and Rule 803(18), SCRE, of any one of a list of articles discussing eyewitness testimony and allow him to read them into the record. App. 242, l. 24 – App. 243, l. 20; App. 244, ll. 12-20; App. 245, ll. 18-23. Rule 201(b), SCRE, provides:

Kinds of Facts. A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

Rule 803(18), SCRE, states:

Learned Treatises. To the extent called to the attention of an expert witness upon cross-examination or relied upon by the expert witness in direct examination, statements contained in published treatises, periodicals, or pamphlets on a subject of history, medicine, or other science or art, established as a reliable authority by the testimony or admission of the witness or by other expert testimony or by judicial notice. If admitted, the statements may be read into evidence but may not be received as exhibits. This rule is in addition to any statutory provisions on this subject.

The solicitor opposed the request, arguing that defense counsel “could have called an expert witness to talk about eyewitness identification” but that this was not a proper subject for judicial notice. App. 244, l. 21 – 245, l. 9.

The trial judge found: “What Rule 803(18) [SCRE] talks about . . . are periodicals . . . established as a reliable authority by the testimony or admission of a witness or by other expert testimony or by judicial notice.” App. 244, ll. 1-5. She found that the Rule was not applicable without “some kind of **expert witness** that says this is what we rely on.” App. 243, l. 21 – 244, l. 11 (emphasis added). Further, she did not find that judicial notice was proper regarding a matter that experts continued to debate. App. 245, ll. 10-17. She accordingly denied defense counsel’s request to take judicial notice of and allow the reading of the articles related to eyewitness identifications. App. 245, ll. 24-25.

Defense Witnesses

Trial counsel had trouble procuring the appearance of several witnesses, who were originally characterized as “alibi” witnesses. App. 4; App. 47 – 52; App. 59; App. 247. Only Roger Jenkins testified at the trial. Jenkins grew up in the same neighborhood with Desaussure. He could not recall whether he saw Desaussure in the year 2010, much less on the night of October 3, 2010. App. 284, l. 5 – 286, l. 21; App. 287, ll. 4-6. While Jenkins said that he “probably” *saw* Desaussure in 2010, he could not recall with any particularity where or when. App. 287, l. 13 – 294, l. 24.

Trial counsel failed to properly serve the subpoena for Patrick Rivers, such that the trial judge could not find Rivers in contempt or issue a bench warrant. App. 292, l. 5 – 294, l. 24. Judge McDonald asked Mayer whether he needed a continuance to try to procure Rivers and the basis for such a request. App. 294, l. 25 – 296, l. 5. Mayer responded:

Your Honor, I spoke with Patrick Rivers when Ms. Eva Desaussure accompanied me to his house and was able to get him to open the door on that occasion, and at that time he told us that **he did not remember that specific day**, that he and Mr. Desaussure were -- **could have been hanging out in that general time period, which is basically the exact same thing that Mr. Jenkins had told me outside the court earlier.** Of course he says it a little bit different in court, but I don't think that we would need to wait and try to get Mr. Rivers. **I don't think that he's got -- that he's going to have the memory to say that on October 3, Mr. Desaussure was there.** At the very best case scenario would be that he would say, you know, **it's possible that we were hanging out that night, but he's not going to be able to say he specifically remembers.**

App. 296, ll. 6-21 (emphasis added). Mayer said that he thought that the witnesses would "kind of support any testimony that might have come from the defendant" but that Desaussure was no longer going to testify. App. 297, ll. 13-20. Judge McDonald agreed that there was no basis to grant a continuance and found that even if Rivers could be located, his testimony would not be relevant. App. 296, l. 22 – 297, l. 1; App. 298, l. 16 – 299, l. 2.

Mayer re-called officer Kelly Stone to hold up the various clothing items that Desaussure was wearing or had with him when he was stopped on the night of the incident. None of them included a dark long-sleeved shirt, much less one with stripes on the elbows. App. 305, l. 4 – 309, l. 12. The defense then rested. App. 310, l. 11. Mayer did not elicit any evidence of Desaussure's height, despite asking the trial judge how he would go about doing so. App. 303, l. 24 – 304, l. 8; App. 316, l. 24 – 317, l. 3.

Defense's Closing Argument

In trial counsel's wandering closing argument, he touched on both Cobiella and Silcott's identifications. He argued both that Cobiella could not have made any identification at time of the incident and that he could have if only the police had conducted one. Mayer said that the in-court identification was "unfair" and that Cobiella would have picked out anyone who generally matched the description and was sitting on at the defense table. App. 314, l. 22 – 317, l. 10.

Regarding Silcott, he argued that the description of an African-American male with salt-and-pepper hair riding a bicycle is “very common” in Charleston and pointed to inconsistencies between Desaussure and the description. App. 322, ll. 9-24; App. 325, l. 13 – 326, l. 20; App. 330, ll. 13-18. He further argued: “For a young white guy like Mr. Silcott who may or may not have a lot of African American friends, it’s probably very difficult for him to make a cross racial identification with any accuracy.” App. 322, l. 25 – 323, l. 3. He noted that Silcott admitted that he called Desaussure a “Fing piece of shit” but would not admit “what he really said that caused the officer to call him back,” eluding to the use of a racial epithet. App. 323, ll. 4-20. Mayer also suggested that the police doctored their reports to include that there was a white plastic bag seen on the assailant’s bicycle in order to strengthen their case against Desaussure. App. 323, l. 25 – 326, l. 11; App. 326, l. 21 – 327, l. 24; App. 328, l. 6 – 329, l. 3.

Mayer further argued that the state failed to prove the elements of the offense, though he never put it so plainly. He cited Cobiella’s testimony that he did not see a knife and comparison of his injury to the type received from a boxing match. App. 317, l. 11 – 318, l. 1. That argument would make sense in light of the judge’s charge of strong-arm robbery, but counsel later credited Silcott’s detailed description of the assailant’s knife. App. 321, ll. 12 – 322, l. 8; App. 329, l. 4 – 330, l. 7. At one point, trial counsel suggested the possibility that someone else snuck into Gilroy’s and stole the change from the tip jar without Cobiella knowing, such that the black man he found inside the store later really was innocent of any theft. App. 318, l. 1 – 319, l. 14. Mayer then told the jury “[n]ow, I don’t think that’s what happened” and referenced Corbin’s testimony that he saw the assailant take the money from the tip jar. App. 319, ll. 15-21.

In an attempt to “clean up” from Jenkins’ testimony, Mayer said that Jenkins was “no kind of friend that I would ever want” and that he “expected differently.” App. 320, ll. 17-18.

He “sincerely apologize[d]” for the problems he had with his witnesses. App. 320, l. 19 – 321, l. 4. Mayer constantly repeated the refrain from his opening statement – “science does not lie.” App. 314, l. 19; App. 320, l. 16; App. 323, l. 22; App. 325, l. 12; App. 327, l. 25 – 328, l. 1; App. 332, l. 6. He argued that the DNA “shows it was not Mr. Desaussure.” App. 321, ll. 5-11; App. 329, l. 4 – 330, l. 7; App. 331, ll. 17-18. Mayer concluded by reminding the jury that the burden was on the state to prove Desaussure’s guilt and said: “I implore you to acquit him because the science doesn’t fit. Find him not guilty, please.” App. 332, ll. 1-8.

Jury Charge on Identification

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