STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 11 2017

Certiorari to Charleston County

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000137

ALONDA DESAUSSURE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JUSTIN J. HUNTER
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 101254

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-4124

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **There is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request funding for and obtain an eyewitness identification expert where trial counsel's valid trial strategy did not require the use of such an expert, trial counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses about their identification of Petitioner, and the use of such an expert would not have had any impact on the outcome of Petitioner's case.**

The PCR court correctly found that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request funding to obtain an eyewitness identification expert. The PCR court found that Counsel's actions were not deficient because Counsel articulated a valid strategy that did not require the use of an expert and because he vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses about their identification of Petitioner. The PCR court found that Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's actions because there was no evidence that a motion to obtain funds would have been granted and Dr. Wallendael's testimony would not have changed the outcome of the case as she provided testimony concerning factors that would have increased the accuracy the eyewitness identification.

- A. **The PCR court correctly found trial counsel was not deficient where he did not request funding for and obtain an eyewitness identification expert because he made the strategic decision to proceed without an expert and vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses concerning the identification.**

This Court should uphold the PCR court's finding that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request funding to obtain an expert witness. Counsel's actions were not deficient as he developed a trial strategy that did not require the need for an eyewitness expert. Counsel was well-versed in the law and factors that affect eyewitness identification and vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses concerning the accuracy of their eyewitness identification of Petitioner.

The PCR court correctly found that Counsel's actions were not deficient as it found he

provided a valid strategic basis for proceeding without an expert witness. App. 506. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); *Underwood v. State*, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). Although Counsel stated he did not ask for funding based on a prior experience where a circuit judge told him that she had never seen private counsel get authorization to have an expert paid for by the State, the record shows Counsel was well-versed in eyewitness identification reliability factors. *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86 (2011) ("Counsel is entitled to balance limited resources in accord with effective trial tactics and strategies"). Petitioner's prior trial counsel testified she could have easily attacked the eyewitness identification on her own without the use of an expert. App. 452, ll. 19-25. The PCR court did not give any weight to Counsel's reasoning that he did not request funding because he was unsuccessful in doing so in the past and it found that he vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses and attacked the accuracy of the evidence. *Lorenzen v. State*, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777 (2008). *See also Frasier v. State*, 306 S.C. 158, 160-61, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991) (holding counsel was not deficient for failing to procure an expert witness to challenge the DNA evidence presented at trial when trial counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's DNA experts and attacked the accuracy of the evidence).

Counsel testified he decided to proceed without an expert once it became clear Petitioner was not going to provide funding to hire an expert. In anticipation of trial, Counsel became well-versed in factors that can affect eyewitness identification including legal and scientific research.

pp. 422, ll. 1-25. Counsel made a pretrial motion to exclude in-court identifications by any State witness who had not identified Petitioner prior to trial on the basis that such identifications would be inherently suggestive. App. 54, l. 19 - 55, l. 8. He argued there were many factors that would make an identification prejudicial, including the two and a half year lapse in time from the incident to the trial, the high stress situation, and the witness's brief view of the incident. App. 94, l. 24 - 97, l. 14. Despite Counsel's preparation for this pre-trial hearing, the trial court ruled the identifications would be admissible at trial.

The PCR court found that Counsel provided credible testimony. This Court must give great deference to the PCR judge's determinations of witness credibility. See *Drayton v. Evatt*, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); see also *Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc.*, 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved.").

Counsel was clearly prepared for trial and knowledgeable in the area of eyewitness identification reliability, as evidenced by his vigorous cross-examination of Cobiella regarding the accuracy of his identification. Counsel elicited testimony from Cobiella about the fact that he had poor vision at the time of the incident (App. 129, l. 21 - 130, l. 6), the fact that his description of the clothing of the assailant was vague (App. 130, ll. 18-25), the fact that Cobiella never saw a weapon when while he was attacked (App. 131, ll. 2-3), the fact that he never mentioned a white plastic bag in his description of the assailant's bike (App. 132, ll. 3-12), and the fact that he was never asked to identify Petitioner prior to trial (App. 133, l. 24-134, l. 2). Counsel also vigorously cross-examined Silcott concerning the factors that could lead to a

misidentification of Petitioner. He challenged Silcott's cross-racial identification based solely on Petitioner's hair color. App. 209, ll. 5-18. Counsel even elicited testimony from Silcott that the knife found on Petitioner was not the same knife that Silcott had seen during the altercation. App. 208, ll. 2-10.

Counsel also attacked Silcott's eyewitness identification in his opening statement and closing argument, arguing in closing that Silcott's cross-racial identification was unreliable because Silcott was simply seeing what he pictured in his head. App. 322, l. 25 – 323, l. 20. Counsel also asked the trial court to take judicial notice of scientific articles that explain eyewitness identification but was unsuccessful. App. 242, l. 24 – 245, l. 25.

Given Counsel's thorough research and preparation concerning eyewitness identification, his vigorous cross-examination of the State's witnesses that highlighted the State's shortcomings, and his overall argument to the jury, the PCR court correctly found that Counsel was not deficient for employing an alternative means of challenging the State's eyewitness identification evidence. The PCR court noted Ms. Ford's testimony that she could have easily challenged the State's eyewitness identification evidence without an expert witness and found that Counsel's effective trial tactics were reasonable under professional norms. App. 509. Accordingly, the PCR court's ruling that Counsel's actions were not deficient is supported by probative evidence and should be upheld.

B. The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced because Petitioner failed to show a motion to obtain funds would have been granted and Dr. Wallendael's testimony would not have changed the outcome of the case.

The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove that he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to obtain an expert witness, finding that he failed to show that the outcome would have otherwise been different. App. 509. There is no evidence that a motion to obtain

funds would have been granted and Dr. Wallendael's testimony would not have changed the outcome of the case as she provided testimony concerning factors that would have increased the accuracy the eyewitness identification

The PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to prove prejudice where Dr. Wallendael's expert testimony at the PCR hearing would not have changed the outcome of Petitioner's trial. App. 510. Dr. Wallendael summarized her testimony by concluding there were red flags in Petitioner's case that would cause concern, but also points in Petitioner's case **in favor of an accurate identification** by Cobiella and Silcott. App. 484, ll. 1-3. The PCR court noted Dr. Wallendael's testimony regarding her concerns in Petitioner's case, but found no prejudice resulted where Dr. Wallendael also provided expert testimony of factors in Petitioner's case that would increase the accuracy of an eyewitness identification. Dr. Wallendael mentioned the weapons focus but noted that Silcott only saw this weapon at the end of the argument after some time had passed. App. 475, l. 22 – 476, l. 7. She testified the frequency by which someone sees a person would increase the accuracy of the identification, and Silcott testified that he had seen Petitioner three times that night. App. 197, ll. 7-25; App. 473, l. 21 – 474, l. 5. Dr. Wallendael also testified an identification is more likely to be accurate if given the same day as the witness's encounter, which supports Silcott's accuracy of identifying Petitioner three hours after the incident. App. 476, ll. 8-16. Although Counsel and Dr. Wallendael stressed the importance of the cross-racial effect, Dr. Wallendael also testified this cross-racial effect can be decreased by an increased exposure to the suspect, which would support a more accurate identification by Silcott. App. 475, ll. 7-16. Dr. Wallendael also testified a well-lit area is better for an accurate identification than a busy street which could be distracting, which would support Silcott's accuracy as he stated he witnessed the altercation on a well-lit street in close range and

saw Petitioner with police on a well-lit street at close range. App. 200, ll. 10-23; App. 201, ll. 2-11; App. 477, ll. 6-20. The PCR court correctly found that Dr. Wallendael's expert testimony that highlighted the many factors that **would increase the likelihood of an accurate eyewitness identification** would not have changed the outcome of Petitioner's trial. Because the PCR court's ruling was based on probative evidence, the order denying post-conviction relief should be affirmed.

The PCR court correctly found Petitioner was not prejudiced as Counsel elicited testimony that highlighted the same eyewitness identification concerns that Dr. Wallendael shared. Counsel cross-examined Silcott on his cross-racial identification and the description he gave to police and elicited testimony from Officer Burns on the situation surrounding Silcott's identification. The PCR court also correctly found Petitioner was not prejudiced because Counsel requested an eyewitness identification jury instruction requested by Counsel highlighted many potential factors that affect eyewitness accuracy. App. 510. The charge given reads as follows:

Identification testimony is an expression of belief or impression by a witness. You must determine the accuracy of the identification of the defendant. You must consider the believability of any identification witness in the same way as you would consider the believability of any other witness.

You may consider whether the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the offender at the time of the offense or afterward. This will be affected by things such as how long or short a time was available, how far or close the witness was, the lighting conditions, and whether the witness had a chance to see or know the person in the past.

App. 343, ll. 4-16. The PCR correctly found Petitioner failed to prove prejudice where the jury charge reiterated many factors that Dr. Wallendael testified to at the PCR hearing regarding the reliability of eyewitness identification. App. 511.

There is no evidence before this Court to suggest that a motion to obtain funds would have been granted. There is nothing in the record before this Court to establish that Petitioner

was indigent at the time of trial as he retained Counsel privately. Counsel testified that he had no concerns about Petitioner's family's ability to pay him and did not have concerns about their ability to pay for an expert until they told him right before trial that they would not be able to pay for one. App. 412, ll. 10-23. The PCR court properly declined to speculate as to whether Counsel's motion for funding would have been granted and whether Petitioner's case fell into the category of rare cases where a private attorney successfully obtains funds from Indigent Defense. App. 511.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling and deny the requested relief.